INTERNATIONAL CLIMATE INITIATIVE

Regional project

Climate Protection through Forest Conservation in Pacific Island Countries





Federal Ministry for the Environment, Nature Conservati and Nuclear Safety

of the Federal Republic of Germany

Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+

BACKGROUND INFORMATION

September 2012





Background prepared by

Dr Sean Weaver Principal, Carbon Partnership Ltd,

29 Central Takaka Rd, Takaka, 7183, New Zealand.

sean.weaver@carbon-partnership.com

On behalf of

SPC / GIZ Regional Project

"Climate Protection through Forest Conservation in Pacific Island Countries"

SPC – Narere Campus Beaumont Rd. Narere, Fiji

e-mail: <u>sairusiB@spc.int</u>

BACKGROUND INFORMATION TO

THE PACIFIC ISLANDS REGIONAL

POLICY FRAMEWORK ON REDD+

Introduction

The development of a Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+ was recommended at the Heads of Forestry meeting of 2009 in Nadi, Fiji to support Pacific Island countries to address and participate in international regimes on greenhouse gas emission reductions and enhanced removals in the forest and trees sector. The quest for a regional approach is also in recognition of the need to support countries that find international requirements for forest carbon programmes challenging. This recommendation was taken up by the Secretariat of the Pacific Community (SPC) and the themes of the framework were elaborated at the 2011 Pacific Regional Forestry Technical Meeting.

The policy framework was drafted during the first and second quarter of 2012 following a national and regional multi-sectoral consultation process. Stakeholders from government, non-governmental organisations, development partners and civil society became involved by a Policy Dialogue Study Tour including face-to-face consultations in Fiji, Tonga, Samoa, Tuvalu and PNG and remote consultations with the rest of the Pacific Island countries. A first draft of the framework was developed as a result of the country consultations and presented for discussion at a regional consultation workshop in Lami, Fiji. The workshop results have been used to refine the draft that was shared with countries again for further submissions. The consultation was facilitated through the provision of briefing papers consolidated in this document.

This process was supported through the SPC/GIZ (Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale Zusammenarbeit) regional project "Climate Protection through Forest Conservation in Pacific Island Countries" funded by the German International Climate Initiative.

This Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+ is designed to provide policy options to guide REDD+ programme development at the regional and national scale, and to provide a rationale for financial support for the sustainable management and use of forest and tree resources.

This document provides some specific background information, and answers to frequently asked questions for the Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+.

A/R	Afforestation/Reforestation	
CBD	Convention on Biological Diversity	
CO ₂	Carbon dioxide	
CROP	Council of Regional Organisations of the Pacific	
FA0	Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations	
FPIC	Free, Prior, and Informed Consent	
GHG	Greenhouse gas	
GIS	Geographical Information System	
GIZ	German Agency for International Cooperation	
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change	
LULUCF	Land Use, Land Use Change and Forestry	
MEA	Multilateral Environmental Agreements	
MRV	Measuring, reporting and verification	
NAMAs	Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions	
REDD	Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation	
REDD+	REDD + forest conservation, sustainable management of forests, forest carbon stock enhancement	
RL/REL	Reference level/reference emissions level	
SFM	Sustainable Forest Management	
SLM	Sustainable Land Management	
SOPAC	Applied Geoscience and Technology Division of SPC	
SPC	Secretariat of the Pacific Community	
UNCCD	United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification	
UNCSICH	United Nations Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage	
UNDRIP	United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples	
UNFCCC	United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change	

Abbreviations

Contents

Introduction	3
Abbreviations	4
Contents	5
Part I: Background Information	6
Global Framework	6
Regional REDD+ Issues	6
Regional Drivers of Deforestation and Forest Degradation	6
Relevance to Each Member State	6
Non-Carbon Benefits	7
Policy Framework	9
Scope of Activity Types	9
Scale of Activities	9
REDD+ Readiness	10
REDD+ Implementation	11
UNFCCC and NON-UNFCCC Options	11
No Regrets REDD+ Financing	
Ine Larbon Market PEDD. Implementation in National CHC Accounting	12
Validation And Verification	13
Preferred Annroaches to MRV	13
Safequards	
Positive Ancillary Impacts	
Leakage	15
Distribution of Benefits	16
Transparency and Governance	16
Information, Training and Education	17
Information	
Iraining	I7
Learning-Dy-Doing	18 18
Community Education	10
Regional Support	10
International Engagement	19
International Engagement With Stakeholders Within The Region	
International Engagement with Stakeholders outside the Region	
Part II: Frequently Asked Questions	21
Saana Saala Paadinass	01
Scope, Scale, Readiness	
אסע MpV	
Safaquarde	23 20
Jangyuarus	
International Engagement	
international Lingagement	
References	30
Glossary	32

Part I: Background Information

The information provided in this background paper is designed to support the equivalent sections of the Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework For REDD+.

Global Framework

REDD arose as a global policy issue at the United Nations in 2005 as a response to the lack of a UNFCCC instrument for developing countries to gain access to incentive payments for reducing greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions from the forest sector.

'REDD' stands for 'Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and forest Degradation.' Deforestation refers to the permanent conversion of forest land to non-forest land. Forest degradation refers to the reduction of tree cover and forest carbon stocks but where the forest remains as forest (e.g. through high intensity selective logging). The '+' in REDD+ was added later and refers to the conservation of forest, the enhancement of forest carbon stocks, and sustainable management of forest. For practical purposes a broader definition of REDD+ could also include growing new forest on non-forest lands (afforestation/reforestation), enabling REDD+ to mean "forest carbon management."

Deforestation and forest degradation are a major source of greenhouse gases to the atmosphere. At this stage in history most of this is occurring in developing countries in tropical regions. According to the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) emissions from tropical deforestation during the 1990s amounted to 1.6 billion tonnes of carbon per year equating to 17% of global carbon emissions. Reducing emissions from deforestation is, therefore, an important component of global climate change mitigation.

Regional REDD+ Issues

Rainforest nations throughout the world are engaging with the technical, policy and financing dimensions of REDD+. The Pacific Island region has a diversity of countries with different scales of forest cover, and different needs and interests in relation to REDD+. But there are also common themes within this region, particularly relating to the value of ecosystem services derived from forests and trees. Another prominent feature of Pacific Island forest resources is that they are predominantly owned and occupied by indigenous peoples, who share a need for economic development and poverty alleviation.

Regional Drivers of Deforestation and Forest Degradation

'Drivers' refers to the human causes of carbon stock change. Drivers of emissions (e.g. deforestation and forest degradation) need to be understood if they are to be altered or removed. Drivers of carbon sink activity also need to be understood so that they can be encouraged and supported in national policy and programmes. A key feature of REDD+ is the need to curtail drivers of forest sector emissions, and encourage drivers of forest enhancement.

Relevance to Each Member State

The REDD+ sector potentially provides a potentially significant source of technical and financial support for forest sector developments that have been a priority in the region for many years. For example, the highest priority for climate change policy for many

Pacific Island countries is climate change adaptation and resilience. Many REDD+ activities such as forest protection and enhancement will also deliver a range of noncarbon beneficial outcomes including climate change adaptation, disaster risk reduction, sustainable land management, water security, flood and drought mitigation, and biodiversity conservation. REDD+ financing options present a means to help fulfil some of these national goals and priorities.

There is a common need throughout the region for accurate and up-to-date mapping and monitoring of forest and tree resources for land use and resource management planning purposes. The benefits of participating in REDD+ activities and programmes include the opportunity to build local capacity and data sets in forest and tree mapping and monitoring.

The smallest Pacific Island countries have very small land areas and very small areas of forest cover (including mangroves). Even though small in scale, the relative importance of forests and trees to the well-being of local communities in these countries remains significant. One of the potential benefits of a regional approach to REDD+ is to support small-scale activities that area compatible with the needs of these smaller countries.

REDD+ is a public policy as well as a commercial tool for gaining access to finance for forest management. When utilised as a commercial tool for financing forest management, REDD+ activities will commonly need to demonstrate commercial returns on investment as with other commercial activities. When utilised as a public policy tool, REDD+ may not need to demonstrate commercial returns on investment, but instead can be regarded as a useful co-financing instrument for a range of sustainable land management priorities.

Non-Carbon Benefits

For a long time now foresters, ecologists and environmentalists have helped us understand the way that forested landscapes provide a broad range of ecosystem services that are beneficial to our communities.

For example, forests provide the following:

Watershed Management: Forests provide protection from flood and cyclone damage through root systems that bind the soil, protect riverbanks, together with a canopy that intercepts rainfall. This reduces the risk of surface, gully, stream bank, and rill erosion thereby reducing sediment loads in rivers and coastal marine areas. Forest soils tend to have higher water holding capacity compared with non-forested soils, which helps to moderate the discharge of water into stream systems and salinization of groundwater near coastlines, riverbanks and shores. This can lower the risk (and cost) of flash flooding and associated flood damage in high rainfall events. A forest buffer will also mitigate the pollution of water sources from human activity (e.g. cattle grazing, pesticides, and water seepage from human settlements).

Coastal Protection: Coastal forests provide protection from seaward winds and tides and also help to filter out sediment that would otherwise flow to the sea and cover coral reefs. Mangrove forests also provide important buffering from cyclone damage and storm surges.

- Latent Heat Production: Forests do this by converting the sun's energy into sugar (and wood) and water vapour – each are forms of latent heat. Latent heat is not hot to the touch (that is 'sensible heat') but still stores heat energy. When we remove forests we remove the system that produces latent heat, and the land surface heats up even without any additional heat from the sun. A hotter land surface will have lower soil moisture (because of faster evaporation rates), and be less productive than a cooler land surface – especially in tropical and sub-tropical climates.
- Water cycle: Forest systems help to maintain the cycling of water locally through evapo-transpiration. This can help to maintain local water supplies, particularly in seasonally dry climates.
- **Provisioning** Services:¹ Forests clearly provide many forest products that are beneficial to our communities including wood, foods, fibre, and cultural resources.
- Biodiversity: Being three dimensional, forest ecosystems are storehouses of biological diversity and tropical rainforests are among the most biodiverse systems on Earth. Protecting biodiversity is already an important component of environmental policy and management in many Pacific Island countries through their biodiversity strategies.
- **Reducing GHG Emissions:** Harvesting timber from forests and forest clearance produces CO_2 emissions. This is because approximately half the dry weight of wood is carbon that was taken from the atmosphere (in the form of CO_2) through photosynthesis. When trees die and decompose or are burnt this CO_2 is released back into the atmosphere. Reducing deforestation and/or forest degradation therefore, reduces GHG emissions from these activities, and is beneficial to the climate system.
- GHG Removals: Growing new forests on non-forest land or restoring forests on deforestation and degraded land increases the current amount of CO_2 that is taken from the atmosphere and stored as wood. This helps to lower atmospheric CO_2 concentrations and is beneficial to the climate system.

¹ The terminology here follows the UN Millennium Ecosystem Assessment that defines the provision of goods (such as forest products) as 'provisioning services.

Policy Framework

Scope of Activity Types

REDD+ activities involve:

- Baseline/reference or 'without payment' scenarios, and
- Project or 'with-payment' scenarios

Baseline/reference scenarios can include situations where:

- Deforestation is occurring
- Deforestation is not yet occurring but where drivers of deforestation exist
- Forest degradation is occurring
- Forest degradation is not yet occurring but where drivers of forest degradation exist
- A forest is degraded and not regenerating
- A non-forest land use is occurring but there is potential for a forest land use to occur on the same land

Project or 'with-payment' scenarios can involve:

- Conversion of active deforestation to forest protection
- Conversion of active deforestation to low impact logging
- Avoidance of future deforestation by protecting a forest
- Avoidance of future deforestation by implementing low impact logging
- Conversion of a low carbon (degraded) forest to a high carbon forest
- Conversion of non-forest land to forest land

Scale of Activities

The financing instruments available to REDD+ readiness and implementation will commonly determine the scale at which the activities are able to occur. There are a number of international REDD+ financing options currently or potentially available including carbon markets, multilateral banks (such as the Forest Carbon Partnership Facility of the World Bank), bilateral agreements, philanthropic entities, and the private sector.

Project-scale REDD+ activities can range from relatively small areas (e.g. tens of hectares) to tens or hundreds of thousands of hectares of forest land. Very small-scale projects need to overcome project development and transaction cost barriers, which in practice, is likely to require a minimum area (e.g. 50ha) that is larger than some projects. In these situations, small projects can be aggregated with other projects to gain the scale needed (called grouped projects). Another factor to consider in very small-scale projects, is the potential to develop purpose-built financing instruments to

suit them. Ultimately, small projects seeking payments for ecosystem services are attempting to find a supplier of money for these payments. Small-scale projects may be appropriately aligned with small scale source of finance such as local financial institutions, businesses, or donors.

Larger scale projects can include projects large enough to cover all forests of a particular type in a small or medium sized country. For example, a country could aggregate all priority areas into a single grouped project covering the national resource.

Countries considering national vs project-scale financing options need to consider the reason for opting for national scale approaches and evaluate the costs and the benefits of doing so. Because the UNFCCC has not yet developed a REDD+ financing instrument, it remains unknown whether it will offer this at a national scale only, or with options for other scales of engagement (e.g. jurisdictional, nested, project and grouped project scales).

Starting with project and grouped project approaches, learning how the entire cycle works, and then, through time, scaling up to a national scale approach is a lower risk option for many Pacific Island countries than starting with a full national-scale approach. This is particularly true when there is (as yet) no national-scale UNFCCC instrument. Once the UNFCCC have finalised a REDD+ financing instrument it will become much clearer whether it will be of any benefit to Pacific Island countries (particularly those other than Papua New Guinea that are small on a global scale).

REDD+ Readiness

REDD+ Readiness involves capacity building to enable countries to participate in REDD+ implementation activities. A global UNFCCC REDD+ instrument (if completed) may require completion of a full set of national REDD+ readiness performance indicators as a condition of eligibility for participation in UNFCCC REDD+ implementation activities. The World Bank Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF) already requires the completion of a full set of national REDD+ Readiness performance indicators as a condition of eligibility for participation in the FCPF REDD+ implementation activities.

Sub-national approaches to REDD+ engagement may be an option with a future UNFCCC REDD+ instrument (if completed), either with:

- Full completion of a set of national REDD+ Readiness performance indicators, or
- Partial completion of a set of national REDD+ Readiness performance indicators, or
- Electing not to undertake national REDD+ Readiness

These options are offered in forest-based project-scale modalities under the Kyoto Protocol with the Joint Implementation (JI) and Clean Development Mechanism (CDM).

If a future UNFCCC REDD+ instrument requires countries to complete a full set of national REDD+ readiness performance indicators prior to gaining access to REDD+ implementation financing, then Pacific Island countries which lack the capacity or resources to complete a full national REDD+ readiness programme may elect to not participate in a future UNFCCC REDD+ instrument, opting instead to utilise other more flexible instruments if available.

Sub-national engagement with REDD+ implementation will require the full set of subnational REDD+ readiness elements. For example, project-scale REDD+ readiness includes:

- Selecting and/or developing the financing instrument and financing arrangements, including the fulfilment of eligibility criteria, and the clarification of modality and conditions for payments for ecosystem services.
- Development/refinement of project governance structures.
- Legal capacity and capability to clarify carbon rights including rules for the transfer of carbon rights (if applicable), legal contracts between project owners, project developers, programme operators, and payers of performance-based payments for ecosystem services.
- Technical capacity and capability to undertake project mapping, calculate baseline/reference and project scenario GHG emissions, and forest carbon modelling.
- Economic capacity and capability to undertake the economic analysis associated with project cost-benefit analysis, additionality testing, and market leakage testing.
- Design and development of specifically tailored legal instruments to protect forests for carbon benefits.
- Logistical capacity and capability to undertake project management and monitoring of carbon stocks, project safeguards, ancillary impacts, benefit distribution, project risk assessment and risk management.

Project-scale engagement with REDD+ will commonly involve/require the out-sourcing of certain technical expert services in a similar way as national REDD+ engagement and other resource management activities.

To participate even in small-scale REDD+ activities forest owners will need the support of other stakeholders including government programmes and technical support to ensure their effective participation.

REDD+ readiness activities can be financed through grants by multilateral agreements and programmes, multilateral development banks, bilateral agreements, domestic financing instruments within the countries, philanthropic entities, and the private sector.

REDD+ Implementation

The ultimate purpose of REDD+ programmes is the receipt of performance-based payments for the delivery of quality-assured ecosystem services, financed from a range of possible non-market and market modalities.

UNFCCC and NON-UNFCCC Options

The UNFCCC as yet has not developed a global financing instrument for REDD+. If the UNFCCC does provide a global REDD+ implementation financing instrument, it may not be available for many years, and may have conditions that pose barriers to participation by small island countries. This may come in the form of a fund-based instrument, a market-based instrument, a market-linked instrument or a combination of all of these.

If the UNFCCC fails to provide a global REDD+ implementation financing instrument, then it is possible that global REDD+ implementation financing may shift to other policy settings such as regional climate change agreements, domestic policies in Annex 1 countries, and/or a global REDD+ agreement outside the UNFCCC. Such instruments may come in the form of fund-based instruments, market-based instruments, market-linked instruments or a combination of all of these.

Non-UNFCCC REDD+ implementation financing instruments are currently available in the global voluntary carbon market, and fund-based instruments through bilateral agreements, and/or mutilateral financing institutions.

Non-UNFCCC REDD+ implementation financing can involve payments for carbon benefits already delivered (*ex post* payments), or payments (now) for carbon benefits to be delivered in the future (*ex ante* payments). *Ex post* payments for ecosystem services tend to be delivered in batches (e.g. every 5 years) following the delivery of a batch (e.g. 5 years) of ecosystem services. Countries and/or sub-national entities engaging in *ex post* REDD+ implementation financing will have the option to transition to a future UNFCCC (or other global) REDD+ implementation financing instrument should one be provided. In contrast, countries and/or sub-national entities engaging in long-term *ex ante* REDD+ implementation financing (e.g. selling credits in a long range futures market) will not have the option to transition their financing to a future UNFCCC REDD+ implementation financing instrument, at least not until the expiry of any *ex ante* contracts.

No Regrets REDD+ Financing

A 'no-regrets' approach to REDD+ implementation financing is one that would take advantage of currently available REDD+ financing instruments, whilst keeping the option open to engage with future UNFCCC or other global REDD+ implementation financing instrument/s. The value of engaging with REDD+ implementation financing instruments currently available includes the ability to:

- Build REDD+ capacity through 'learning-by-doing'.
- Begin or continue with REDD+ readiness activities with the confidence that this will lead to some form of REDD+ implementation and associated payments.
- Not delay their transition from REDD+ readiness to REDD+ implementation.

The Carbon Market

The carbon market involves buyers and sellers of carbon credits. Carbon credits are produced from comprehensive quality assurance through carbon market standards. These standards independently verify that the climate-related ecosystem services represented by the credits have actually been produced. The independent audit procedures of carbon market standards verify that the carbon credits have resulted from measurable GHG emission reductions and/or removals that would not otherwise have occurred (i.e. they are additional to business-as-usual). Carbon market standards normally require compliance with equivalent methodological frameworks and standards as the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC), the UNFCCC and Kyoto Protocol.

Buyers use carbon credits for:

• Social/environmental responsibility claims.

- "Green" marketing of goods and services that are linked to environmental and social responsibility.
- Maintaining access to markets for manufactured goods by showing emission reduction and offsetting certificates.

Carbon credits validated and verified by carbon market standards are required to:

- Pass an additionality test (i.e. would not have occurred anyway).
- Account for and address leakage/displacement of emissions.
- Come from projects that self-insure the carbon benefits.
- Legally enforce project activities for the duration of the project.

Countries could elect to support carbon market financing for REDD+ activities, and regulate this by requiring projects to be validated and verified to a selection of voluntary carbon market standards that guarantee that the quality of activities will be in line with world's best practice. Regulating the voluntary carbon market in this way would ensure high quality projects without requiring any additional capability or resources in government regulatory agencies.

Carbon market standards that enable projects to meet world's best practice in REDD+ implementation activities include:

- Verified Carbon Standard (VCS)
- ISO14064-2 (especially when combined with methodological elements from other standards such as the VCS)
- Plan Vivo
- Carbon Fix
- Climate Community and Biodiversity Standard (CCB) (non-carbon co-benefits only)
- Social Carbon

REDD+ Implementation In National GHG Accounting

The monitoring associated with REDD+ activities can be used in national GHG accounting. Emission reductions and/or enhanced removals from REDD+ activities could also potentially be used as part of a national low emission development strategy.

Validation And Verification

'Validation' refers to the quality assurance auditing of methodologies and <u>proposed</u> <u>activities</u>, whereas 'verification' refers to the quality assurance auditing of <u>actual</u> <u>performance</u> as a consequence of monitoring. Validation and verification standards are core feature of REDD+ financing instruments including carbon markets.

Preferred Approaches to MRV

'MRV' stands for 'measurement, reporting and verification'. Any future UNFCCC REDD+ implementation financing instrument will require compliance with UNFCCC guidelines and guidance for MRV. REDD+ implementation financing instruments outside the UNFCCC also require compliance with the equivalent UNFCCC guidelines and guidance for MRV.

UNFCCC Decision 4/CP.15, requests developing country Parties to take the following guidance into account for activities relating to measurement and reporting:

1(c) "To use the most recent Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change guidance and guidelines, as adopted or encouraged by the Conference of the Parties, as appropriate, as a basis for estimating anthropogenic forest-related greenhouse gas emissions by sources and removals by sinks, forest carbon stocks and forest area changes"

1(d) "To establish, according to national circumstances and capabilities, robust and transparent national forest monitoring systems and, if appropriate, subnational systems as part of national monitoring systems that:

(i) Use a combination of remote sensing and ground-based forest carbon inventory approaches for estimating, as appropriate, anthropogenic forestrelated greenhouse gas emissions by sources and removals by sinks, forest carbon stocks and forest area changes;

(ii) Provide estimates that are transparent, consistent, as far as possible accurate, and that reduce uncertainties, taking into account national capabilities and capacities;

(iii) Are transparent and their results are available and suitable for review as agreed by the Conference of the Parties;"

Safeguards

REDD+ safeguards are designed to maximises the positive and minimise the negative ancillary impacts of REDD+ implementation activities. Appendix 1 of the UNFCCC Cancun Agreement in December 2009 cover REDD+ safeguards and state that REDD+ activities should:

- Complement or be consistent with the objectives of national forest programmes and relevant international conventions and agreements;
- Involve transparent and effective national forest governance structures, taking into account national legislation and sovereignty;
- Respect for the knowledge and rights of indigenous peoples and members of local communities, by taking into account relevant international obligations, national circumstances and laws, and noting that the United Nations General Assembly has adopted the United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples;
- Include the full and effective participation of relevant stakeholders, in particular indigenous peoples and local communities,
- Ensure that actions are consistent with the conservation of natural forests and biological diversity, and are not used for the conversion of natural forests, but are instead used to incentivize the protection and conservation of natural forests and their ecosystem services, and to enhance other social and environmental benefits;

- Address the risks of reversals (e.g. forest fires and illegal logging);
- Reduce the displacement of emissions (also called leakage).

Agencies other than the UNFCCC have developed or are developing guidelines and guidance on REDD+ Safeguards, including but not restricted to the REDD+ Social and Environmental Standards Initiative.

Positive Ancillary Impacts

REDD+ implementation activities can cause positive ancillary impacts if such activities are designed, planned and executed in ways that incorporate social and environmental good practice methods, in line with social and environmental safeguards.

Non-carbon positive ancillary impacts of REDD+ implementation activities can include (but are not restricted to) poverty alleviation, climate change adaptation, disaster risk reduction, sustainable land management, sustainable forest management, watershed protection, bioenergy, and biodiversity conservation.

Some non-carbon positive ancillary impacts of REDD+ implementation activities are addressed in non-REDD+ resource management programmes in the countries. Such programmes will benefit from REDD+ implementation activities that take sufficient account of these programmes and the domestic and international reporting requirements and obligations of such programmes.

Non-carbon positive ancillary impacts arising from REDD+ implementation activities can be independently quality assured through good practice guidance, standards, third party validation, verification and certification, and registration procedures.

Leakage

Performance-based payments for REDD+ ecosystem services are usually conditional on the assessment of leakage (the displacement of emissions) arising as a consequence of the particular REDD+ implementation activities. Leakage refers to emissions occurring outside the boundary of the REDD+ implementation activities but which are caused by those same REDD+ implementation activities. An example of leakage is when a forest is protected from logging (and the owners sell carbon credits generated by that protection), but the logging operation simply shifts to another forest that would not otherwise have been logged.

Leakage is closely linked to, and caused by, the drivers of deforestation and forest degradation, and if these drivers are not addressed in REDD+ implementation activities, they will cause leakage.

Addressing the drivers of deforestation and forest degradation is an integral component of "leakage avoidance" activity. Leakage avoidance activities can be incorporated into the management plans of REDD+ implementation and can include:

- Additional employment opportunities for local people.
- The development of plantation forests to help meet local demand for timber production and forest-related employment.

• Assisting logging companies create and sell carbon credits instead of or along side timber as a means of generating an income from their concession areas.

Under national-scale REDD+ implementation programmes, leakage within a country is eliminated because the forest sector of a whole country is caught in national forest carbon accounting, and it is the nation that receives performance-based payments for ecosystem services. To use a metaphor: national-scale REDD+ implementation and carbon accounting is akin to a person (representing a nation) standing on the scales and measuring her weight (representing forest carbon stocks) in year one. This person then weighs herself again 5 years later. If she is heavier in year 5 compared with year 1, she gets a performance-based payment for increasing her weight (carbon stocks). The volume of payment is based on the difference in weight between year 1 and year 5. Here it does not matter if weight gain on her left leg is cancelled out by weight loss on her right leg because her whole body is being weighed. In project-scale REDD+ implementation, the project boundary might be restricted to her left leg. Weight gain on her left leg that is cancelled out by weight loss on her right leg needs to be accounted for and is subtracted from the performance-based payment to her left leg.

Using our metaphor, international leakage can be understood as weight gain on one person being cancelled out by weight loss on another person. International leakage cannot be addressed by individual country alone, but instead requires regional cooperation, and also potentially cooperation with other countries beyond the region.

Distribution of Benefits

Land Tenure arrangements

REDD+ implementation will take place on a variety of land tenure types including government-owned land, freehold land, and lands owned communally by indigenous peoples. The distribution of benefits arising from REDD+ implementation will need to reflect rights associated with that land tenure. REDD+ benefit distribution will need to take into account existing customary land tenure systems in each of the countries.

Disputes over land tenure (particularly between communal landowners) pose a significant potential barrier to REDD+ implementation. The resolution of land tenure disputes and/or benefit distribution disputes is a pre-condition to REDD+ implementation.

Rights of Indigenous Peoples

UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples and Appendix 1 of the UNFCCC Cancun Agreements in December 2009 referring to REDD+ safeguards, are both relevant to the role and rights of indigenous peoples in relation to REDD+ activities.

The vast majority of lands in the Pacific Island Region that are relevant to REDD+ Implementation activities are owned by indigenous peoples.

Transparency and Governance

Illegal Logging

Illegal logging activities will undermine and seriously diminish the value of any REDD+ Implementation activities. According to the FLEGT definition, illegal logging includes logging of timber species protected by law, logging outside licensed areas (including overcutting), buying of logs harvested from outside licensed areas, logging in protected areas (including reserves and/or protected forest carbon project areas), logging in prohibited areas (including steep slopes, buffers), cutting and removal of undersized trees, cutting over the authorised limit, logging without proper authorisation, shortcutting the proper licensing process.

The negative impacts of illegal logging on REDD+ activities can be reduced or eliminated through active pursuit of forest law enforcement, governance and trade (FLEGT) programmes.

Governing Private Contributions to Public Ecosystem Services

Government taxation, rate revenues, and levy instruments are often used to harvest private funds to offset any social and/or environmental external costs of economic development activities. When private actors undertake activities that reduce external costs of economic development, or produce positive externalities, it is logical and consistent with natural justice to not penalise those private actors by taxing, rating or levying them in the same manner as private actors who generate negative externalities.

Information, Training and Education

Information

Forest data requirements of REDD+ Readiness and Implementation will necessitate new research activities to support Member States in their engagement with REDD+ activities.

Forest data gathered in one country may be applicable to REDD+ activities in another country.

Social, economic, and cultural data gathered in one country may be applicable to REDD+ activities in another country.

Regional cooperation and coordination of REDD+ research activities will benefit the region by reducing costs and increasing efficiencies, especially if such research activity is designed and executed to support specific components of REDD+ activities.

A regional information platform for REDD+ will benefit the region by facilitating information sharing.

Training

REDD+ activities require skill-sets that are not always fully available among implementing agencies in the Member States.

Improving capabilities among incumbent staff in agencies involved in REDD+ activities will require targeted training.

Increasing the skill level among incumbent staff in agencies involved or potentially involved in REDD+ activities will benefit the region by lowering the reliance on external expertise.

One option for targeted training for REDD+ activities is to organise this on a regional basis that brings relevant staff from the different Member States to coordinated training programmes.

Targeted training for REDD+ could be incorporated into professional development programmes for staff employed in agencies relevant to REDD+ activities.

Professional development training can include modular courses offered by tertiary institutions using REDD+ experts as trainers.

Modular REDD+ courses can be combined to form a postgraduate tertiary degree and thereby be available to staff of relevant agencies involved in REDD+ activities and/or available to postgraduate students seeking to engage in REDD+ activities as a new entrant.

National and regional training for REDD+ will be more efficiently undertaken if such training programmes were first carefully planned and incorporated into a regional REDD+ training strategy.

Learning-by-Doing

REDD+ activities include new activities for which there are few opportunities for prior training.

Similar activities to REDD+ activities have been conducted in other fields that provide experience sufficient to enable the successful implementation of REDD+ activities.

Undertaking new activities helps to build capability among those individuals and agencies involved in undertaking those activities.

REDD+ activities that require external technical assistance and support can be designed so that they involve capability transfer and on-the-job training for local counterparts if designed for this purpose.

Tertiary Education

For REDD+ to become mainstreamed in the Pacific Islands region, new entrants to the sector will need to become available from the pool of those educated in (particularly tertiary) educational institutions in the region.

The skills relevant to REDD+ activities include but are not restricted to: Forestry, biology, ecology, environmental science, economics, human and physical geography, sociology, finance, law, and public policy.

Many of the skills relevant to REDD+ activities are already available from educational disciplines already available at tertiary educational institutions of the region.

The mainstreaming of REDD+ will benefit from the inclusion of REDD+ themes in existing tertiary educational institutions in the region, with particular reference to forestry education.

REDD+ educational resources developed for use by tertiary educational institutions in the region can also benefit REDD+ tertiary education.

Community Education

Local communities and other relevant REDD+ stakeholders will benefit from understanding the purpose of REDD+ activities as well as the opportunities and responsibilities associated with their participation. Users of resource management innovations do not need to know all of the technical details of how the innovation works in order to use it or benefit from it.

The educational needs of local communities and relevant REDD+ stakeholders are focused on their particular role in REDD+ activities.

Community and stakeholder education in REDD+ will achieve greater uptake if delivered using languages and contexts that are relevant to that particular group or stakeholder.

Community education in REDD+ will be most beneficial to local communities and relevant stakeholders if it is designed and delivered to:

- Simplify the issues as much as possible
- Enable an understanding of REDD+ activities in a way that is relevant to that particular group or stakeholder
- Be understood in languages and contexts that are relevant to that particular group or stakeholder.

Regional Support

Pacific Island countries planning and undertaking REDD+ activities would benefit from regional REDD+ support supplied by regional organisations such as SPC. Such support could include advisory services, coordination of activities, providing external expertise, training and education support, information sharing, international leakage monitoring and control, and technical services such as remote sensing and mapping.

International Engagement

International Engagement With Stakeholders Within The Region

Member States have existing processes for international engagement with each other through the Pacific Islands Forum and through a range of other channels.

Different Member States are likely to have different priorities and preferences for REDD+ and how REDD+ aligns with national policies and programmes.

A Regional approach to REDD+ needs to support regional cooperation through open dialogue between Member States and key regional REDD+ stakeholders. Regional engagement will most effectively represent the interests of different Member States and different relevant stakeholder groups within each Member State if the relevant stakeholders are party to dialogue concerning regional REDD+ issues.

International Engagement with Stakeholders outside the Region

REDD+ is being developed as part of a global policy, technical, and financing process through the UNFCCC, multilateral development banks, multilateral programmes, and bilateral agreements.

Different Member States are engaged in these global initiatives at different levels and with different priorities.

The Pacific Island region will be more strongly represented in global REDD+ policy, technical and financing processes if it is able to articulate a coherent regional message

that emphasises the common needs and interests of the region, whilst recognising intra-regional differences where appropriate.

Different Member States will have different preferences with respect to global REDD+ policy, technical, and financing programmes.

International REDD+ policy guidance developed for the Member States by the CROP agencies will accurately reflect the needs, interests and priorities of the Member States as a whole, if such guidance is the product of a process of dialogue with each of the Member States and the relevant sectors and stakeholders within Member States.

Global REDD+ policy, technical, and financing process through the UNFCCC, multilateral development banks, multilateral programmes, and bilateral agreements commonly provide for the representation of forestry interests from the region and from Member States.

The participation of forestry representatives at global REDD+ policy, technical, and financing process through the UNFCCC, multilateral development banks, multilateral programmes, and bilateral agreements will benefit the advancement of REDD+ programmes and activities in the region.

Multilateral environmental agreements each impose national reporting requirements on ratifying Member States, and that these reporting requirements impose a significant resourcing challenge to the ratifying Member States, particularly due to:

- The cross-over between different agreements and the different reporting frameworks and templates,
- The low capacity of many government agencies of Member States, and
- The need to undertake this reporting over and above the normal functioning of government agencies,

There is considerable value in the development of REDD+ reporting systems that:

- Avoid duplication of REDD+ reporting with existing national MEA reporting requirements,
- Harmonise REDD+ reporting requirements with other MEA obligations to streamline these functions of government.

Part II: Frequently Asked Questions

The regional consultation for the Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+, held in Suva in April 2012 involved participants asking several questions for clarification.

Scope, Scale, Readiness

Question	Response
Do smaller island states	UNFCCC: no instrument yet
qualify to sell their carbon?	Non-UNFCCC: yes. In practice it depends on the details of the particular activity, the rules financing instrument used, and prudent balancing of costs and benefits. Key point: the core of this sector is performance-based payments for ecosystem services. These payments can come from different sources
<i>Do coconut plantations qualify for carbon credit?</i>	It will depend on the definition of 'forest land', which can differ from one country to the next. Coconut plantations do contain carbon because this is what the wood is made from. If the baseline is grass, and the project involves planting new coconut plantations then in principle there is no reason why carbon credits cannot be produced on such land in a non- UNFCCC financing instrument. The challenge is that the volume of carbon sequestered per hectare per year may be quite low and the credit volumes correspondingly low. So in this situation the project development and transaction costs would need to be relatively low – otherwise too much money would be spent on project development and not enough actual payments going to land owners. The best way to answer this question is to undertake a cost-benefit analysis as part of a pre-feasibility study of a potential carbon project.
What kind of data needed to be submitted to qualify for carbon credit?	 Each financing instrument will specify the data requirements for a national, jurisdictional, programmatic or project activity. This will include: Defining (mapping) the forest area and clarifying associated land tenure and carbon rights, Identifying the GHG sources and sinks to be measured and the carbon pools to be considered, Determining the baseline activity and proving (through economic analysis) that the baseline is viable and likely to occur without the project activity, Determining the project activity and the carbon strategy, Calculating baseline emissions using a carbon accounting procedure involving mapping data and forest inventory data, Calculating project scenario emissions, Calculating net carbon benefits Undertaking a risk analysis to determine a risk management strategy including project self-insurance Assessing leakage Calculating carbon credit volumes using all of the above Assessing non-carbon ancillary impacts Defining roles and responsibilities Designing a monitoring plan Determining the project data management system Assessment of uncertainty and data quality
What is the definition of forests at regional and	This will potentially differ from country to country, but can also use FAO definitions for what constitutes 'forest-land'. There are different definitions of

national level?	what constitutes a forest. The most significant differences concern:
	 The legal classifications of land uses in a country (forest / agriculture / urban)
	• The kind of vegetation that constitutes a forest.
	Some legal definitions of 'forest' are based on the actual vegetation on the ground, whereas other definitions are based on a defined land area which may have no vegetation on it at all but is legally under the jurisdiction of the national agency which manages forests and natural resources.
	In the 1990 FAO report, forests in developed countries were defined as areas of land with 20% tree cover. In the 2000 report, this definition was changed in order to harmonize it with the definition for developing countries which is 10% tree cover.
	It would be useful to define 'forest land' at a regional level for the Pacific Island region. This regional definition could potentially include coconut plantations.
What are the reporting mechanisms?	Reporting mechanisms are rigidly defined and determined by each financing instrument. Different reporting requirements are imposed by different financing instruments. Such reporting will cover the data requirements indicated in c. above.
What REDD+ standards comply with international	Forest carbon standards relevant to the broader definition of REDD+ and which comply with IPCC LULUCF guidelines and guidance include:
(IPCC) requirements?	 Plan Vivo Verified Carbon Standard (VCS) ISO14064-2 Standard Carbon Fix
	 Clean Development Mechanism (CDM) Climate Community and Biodiversity Standard Social Carbon
<i>Scope: What are the options for the very small island countries?</i>	It is helpful to think of REDD+ as performance-based 'payments for ecosystem services'. The Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework For REDD+ explains the different activity types possible in the REDD+ sector. Even for small island states with little forest, the same scope principles can apply as those of the larger countries, so long as the financial instrument recognizes them. Different financing instruments focus on different scopes.
	For example, Carbon Fix and the Clean Development Mechanism both only support afforestation/ reforestation activities. The verified Carbon Standard supports all scopes. Plan Vivo and the ISO14064-2 standards supports all scopes.
Is there a risk in developing a national REDD+ programme for a UNFCCC instrument, when we do not know if that instrument will be finalized and what it will look like?	We do not know what the UNFCCC REDD+ financing instrument will look like until it is finalized. Until then we can only prepare in a way that does not shut down future options. For example, imagine that a country undertakes project-scale activities now but the UNFCCC only offers a national scale instrument. Under this situation the country can continue with its project scale activity and the payments for ecosystem services from that activity can continue to be received. But the national scale carbon accounting would need to be managed to avoid any double counting. The project-scale activities can help the country to understand how to engage at a national scale in the future.
IPCC vs UNFCCC: Can they be combined?	The UNFCCC is a climate <u>policy</u> convention, whereas the IPCC is a <u>scientific</u> <u>advisory body</u> . The IPCC is the scientific advisory body to the UNFCCC.
What is the relevance of the Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+ countries that already have REDD+ policies?	The Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+ can help to strengthen and reinforce national policies where they already exist.

E.		
How is th Intergove Climate C and what	<i>How is the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change governed, and what is its purpose?</i>	The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change was established in 1988 through a collaboration between the World Meteorological Organisation (WMO) and the UN Environment Programme. It is composed of scientists and policy experts and its role is to provide policy relevant but not policy prescriptive advice to the parties to the UN Framework Convention on Climate Change (i.e. national governments world wide). The world's best climate scientists are selected for roles as authors and reviewers of climate science assessment reports that are released every 6 to
		7 years. The first Assessment Report of the IPCC was released in 1990. The fourth Assessment Report was released in 2007.
	The preparation of the assessment reports is conducted by panels of world leading scientists covering each different component of climate science. These panels review all of the available climate science publications in the world's scientific journals. The IPCC working groups then summarise the findings of the most up-to-date climate science. These summaries are then subject to peer review and also line by line negotiation by scientific panels to arrive at a consensus position on each theme.	
		Third Assessment Report (2001) as a 3,061– page synthesis by over 1,000 authors and expert reviewers of over 11,000 peer-reviewed scientific studies. The Assessment Reports are broken into three volumes:
		1. Scientific Basis
		2. Impacts Adaptation Vulnerability
		3. Mitigation
		The IPCC also recruits world-leading specialists to form expert teams to prepare special reports on specific topics such as global warming potentials of different greenhouse gases, aviation emissions measurement, and methodologies for carbon measurement in the Land Use Land Use Change And forestry (LULUCF) sector. This methodological guidance is designed to guide governments in their own national GHG inventories and reporting.
		The IPCC is perhaps the most robust and comprehensive process of scientific consensus building ever conducted on a global scale.
		Thousands of scientists from all over the world contribute to the work of the IPCC on a voluntary basis. Review is an essential part of the IPCC process, to ensure an objective and complete assessment of current information. IPCC aims to reflect a range of views and expertise. The Secretariat coordinates all the IPCC work and liaises with Governments. It is supported by WMO and UNEP and hosted at WMO headquarters in Geneva.
		The IPCC is an intergovernmental body. It is open to all member countries of the United Nations (UN) and WMO. Currently 195 countries are members of the IPCC. Governments participate in the review process and the plenary Sessions, where main decisions about the IPCC work programme are taken and reports are accepted, adopted and approved. The IPCC Bureau Members, including the Chair, are also elected during the plenary Sessions.

Implementation

Question	Response
What do the national activities involve?	The implementation of national scale activities are contingent upon the availability of a UNFCCC REDD+ financing instrument.
	A national approach will involve the establishment of national Reference Levels (RLs) to determine the baseline against which any national performance in carbon stock management will be measured.
	The management of the national forest carbon estate in a manner that increases forest carbon stocks and reduces forest sector carbon emissions. These activities can be incentivised by the government in any way that a government wishes. One way to incentivise certain activities is for governments to decentralize the distribution of carbon credits directly to the landowners, or to retain the ownership of carbon credits nationally but distributing direct payments for forest management performance to landowners.
Do we have enough financial and technical resources to start or we have to look for external funding?	It is likely that external finding support will be required to support new activities until such time as they can be supported entirely without that support.
<i>Is there a regional process to follow for soliciting technical and financial support from outside sources?</i>	At this stage there is no regional process specifically designed to cater for the soliciting of technical and financial support.
Is there a ready-made regional REDD+ guidelines for implementation?	No. The Pacific Islands Regional Policy Framework for REDD+ will be a first step in this direction.
Are group projects possible in the VCS?	Yes. The Verified Carbon Standard supports grouped project approaches.
Plan Vivo standards – can different REDD+ activity types be undertaken in one project?	Yes – This is also true for the VCS, but in the VCS it is probably more expensive to do this.
Are there funding sources for implementation?	Yes. This can involve donor support through grants and also private sector investment funds to support activities where the private sector will buy credits generated from those activities.
What are the costs of implementation?	These costs vary considerably depending on scale, scope and activity type.
Are there methodologies and project designs for Plan Vivo?	Yes. But Plan Vivo also allows project proponents to develop their own technical specifications (methodlogies), which are then subject to quality controls in Plan Vivo.
When is REDD+ operational?	REDD+ is operational outside the UNFCCC as soon as a country or a sub- national entity decides to undertake a REDD+ activity using existing carbon market standards. No one knows if and/or when the UNFCCC REDD+ instrument will be operational.
What's the difference between REDD+ and Payment for Ecosystem Services?	There is no difference. REDD+ involves payments for ecosystem services. It is one of the more advanced versions of payments for ecosystem services.

MRV

Question	Responses
Who is doing the remote sensing?	Many different entities generate the aerial imagery. Then this imagery needs to be processed by organizations seeking to use it for REDD+ planning purposes.
<i>Is there sufficient software, satellite images and maps available in the region for doing REDD+?</i>	Yes.
Can aerial photos be used?	Yes.
Do we have enough capacity to do the national forest carbon inventory?	This will vary from one country to the next.
Are we using uniform standards and criteria (methodology)?	Sometimes. It is very useful to ensure that standards and methodologies are integrated across the region so that each country engaging in REDD+ is compatible with other countries in the region. It is particularly important to ensure that each country is basing their MRV systems on a common set of international best practice for the REDD+ sector. This international best practice guidance comes from the IPCC and other scientific advisory bodies that are informing the UNFCCC.
How often can or should countries update their forest inventory?	It is up to the country, and it depends on the way a national inventory is designed. The two basic approaches are periodic and continuous inventory. Periodic inventories occur at one time (e.g. during 2015/16) and then occur again at a later time (e.g. 2025/6). This provides decadal data that can be compared with each other. Periodic inventory requires a major investment in staff and training and inventory implementation every inventory cycle.
	Continuous inventory is where an on-going inventory process is established, where a smaller group of inventory staff begin in one part of the country and then undertake the inventory systematically from one location to the next, and times so that they get back to the starting point 5 or 10 years after they started. And then the process simply continues through time.
What is the correct terminology: 'Baseline' or 'reference' level?	The word 'baseline' and the term 'reference level' mean much the same thing. In many ways they can be used interchangeably. The baseline is the reference upon which forest carbon management performance is measured, and on this basis the difference between the 'without-payment' and the 'with-payment' scenario can be determined. The quantitative difference between 'without-payment' (baseline) and the 'with-payment' (project) forest carbon scenarios is the basis for determining the volume of payments to be delivered to the REDD+ activity. The reason why this can get confusing is that the terms need to accommodate national level and project scale activities. In project scale activities the term 'baseline' seems to be more common, whereas in national approaches the term 'reference level' or 'reference emissions level' is the norm.
	In both cases and at any scale, the baseline/reference is the product of a negotiation between a REDD+ activity proponent (e.g. a community or a country) and a financing instrument. The financing instrument wants to minimize the amount paid, whereas the REDD+ activity proponent wants to maximize the amount paid. The financing instrument and its quality control mechanisms require the REDD+ activity proponent to present carbon accounting evidence (audited by an independent third party) to justify and defend the reference/baseline. For national Reference Levels, this negotiation will likely occur at the UNFCCC
	For national Reference Levels, this negotiation will likely occur at the UNFCCC with developing country Parties presenting their RL/RELs and developed country

	Parties scrutinizing them very closely and challenging them with their own experts. The reason why developed country parties are likely to pay close attention to RL/RELs is because they will be the carbon buyers of REDD+ activities and will want to make sure that what they are buying is real, conservative, and not inflated.
What is the relationship between sustainable management timber harvesting and the reference level?	Most reference levels are developed by gathering historical data to determine the normal rate of emissions from the forest sector over an historical period (e.g. 1990 – 2009), and projecting this rate into the future. These historical reference levels can, in some situations, be adjusted allow countries to increase their emissions reference level above historical levels. Because reference level carbon accounting happens as a national scale, it really does not matter how those emissions were caused. What matters is the volume of the emissions. So sustainable forest management (SFM) activities may have occurred historically and this would contribute to the reference level. If we get a UNFCCC REDD+ instrument, then SFM can also occur in the carbon management period. The key is the aggregated total level of annual emissions for the carbon management period and the difference between this level and the reference level. It will be on this basis that any national level incentive payments will be allocated (as is the case for developed countries in the Kyoto Protocol). At a project scale SFM timber harvesting can also be in the baseline and the project scenario. As with national carbon accounting, the key is the total
	emissions during the carbon management period. Imagine a natural forest with relatively high commercial timber volumes, but not quite enough to make SFM timber harvesting commercially viable (this is common throughout the world). Because SFM harvesting is not commercially viable in its own right, then the business-as-usual (the baseline) scenario could justifiably involve unsustainable timber harvesting (or deforestation) - because that would be commercially viable in it sown right. In this situation, there is potential to establish a carbon project involving SFM timber harvesting and carbon crediting, where both of these asset-producing activities produce enough assets (timber and carbon credits) to make the project commercially viable. Here carbon credits have helped to cause the SFM forest management regime to become commercially viable, and this is the kind of thing that carbon credit finance is designed to do: make the more sustainable option commercially viable.
Could a baseline or reference level be influence by policies?	The baseline or reference level of emissions will be the product of all of the activities and policies of a country during the reference period. Policies that change the rate of timber harvesting (e.g. log export rules) will influence the reference emissions level. If a policy can cause emissions to increase in the reference period, clearly a policy can be changed to cause emissions to decrease in the carbon management period. A national scale approach enables countries to use policies (rather than just projects) to influence the level of emissions. And if the emissions level is lower in the carbon management period compared with the reference period then the country will be eligible for performance-based incentive payments for ecosystem services (aka carbon finance) if a national scale financing instrument is offered internationally. Incidentally, if for some reason the UNFCCC fails to deliver a global REDD+ instrument, then it is quite possible that an international (intergovernmental) REDD+ financing mechanism will develop anyway, through the modification of the existing non-UNFCCC instruments, and/or the establishment of another mechanism such as a global agreement on forests.
Are forests defined differently between larger and smaller countries?	Countries have the option to define forests how they please. They are well advised to use the definitions provided by organisations like the FAO as a starting point, but then can modify the definition to suite national circumstances. From a forest carbon point of view, the definition of forest land will influence what kind of forest carbon project can occur on that land but is unlikely to influence the potential carbon revenues able to be produced on that land. This is because the volume of carbon revenues able to be generated on any given piece

	of land will be determined by carbon accounting and not definitions of forest.
	For example, if a country defines forest to include coconut plantations, then establishing new coconut plantations will qualify for carbon financing. But the amount of money able to be generated per hectare on that land will depend on how much carbon is sequestered each year on that land. Different forest definitions would only influence the amount of carbon-related payments if the definition affected the eligibility of land for participation in a particular financing instrument.
	This is relevant to developed countries under the Kyoto Protocol (for reasons too complex to explain here), but developing countries have the option to choose from a number of different non-UNFCCC financing instruments, whereby the activity types (scope) of these instruments covers most if not all legitimate REDD+ activities.
<i>Would National greenhouse gas inventories be sufficient to start MRV?</i>	Yes. National forest carbon monitoring starts with the relevant national data sets that already exist. From this starting point gaps are highlighted and plans and strategies developed and implemented to fill those gaps. Through time a country builds its national forest carbon monitoring programme in tandem with the building of its own capacity.
Why are there UNFCCC and non-UNFCCC standards, instead of one universal standard?	The UNFCCC REDD+ programme has certain quality assurance requirements to ensure that data used in UNFCCC GHG accounting mechanisms are real, measureable and verifiable and consistent with world's best practice. The forest carbon accounting standard used by the UNFCCC is the IPCC carbon accounting standards that have been developed for this purpose.
	The non-UNFCCC REDD+ financing instruments (e.g. carbon standards) use the same IPCC quality assurance standards at their core. The Non-UNFCCC financing instruments differ from the UNFCCC in the following ways:
	 They are operational now Sometimes they offer a more detailed range of activity types (i.e. more detailed than the UNFCCC activity types)
	 Some have been developed to a higher standard than the IPCC (i.e. more detailed carbon accounting) but based on the IPCC at their core
	In this way the IPCC forest carbon measurement guidelines and guidance can be seen as a template upon which all forest carbon financing instruments and standards are based.
	One of the reasons why some non-UNFCCC financing instruments (and their forest carbon accounting methods) are more developed and more detailed than the UNFCCC is because the non-UNFCCC instruments have been operational now for some years and during this time have attracted the worlds best forest carbon experts who have refined many different methodological components of forest carbon accounting, monitoring, reporting and verification systems.
	It is also worth noting that global forest carbon accounting has also progressed considerably in the Kyoto Annex B (industrialized) countries because these countries have been engaging with the forestry scope of the Kyoto Protocol since the Protocol came into force in 2005
	If the UNFCCC does eventually develop an operational REDD+ financing instrument, it will very likely borrow from the expertise gained by the non- UNFCCC instruments that have gained considerable experience over their years of operation. Furthermore, many of the non-UNFCCC REDD+ financing instruments have been developed with the assumption that a UNFCCC REDD+ mechanism will eventually become operational, and non-UNFCCC instruments that meet worlds best practice will therefore increase their chances of being accepted into the UNFCCC mechanism.
Can there be a regional REL/RL?	In principle yes, but in practice this is unlikely.

Safeguards

Question	Responses
Where do the payment for ecosystem services come in?	Safeguards are all about ensuring that carbon-related payments for ecosystem services in the REDD+ sector do not cause undesirable side effects such as increasing poverty, breaching indigenous peoples rights, causing conflict, reducing biodiversity, reducing water supply. Furthermore, if REDD+ activities are undertaken in ways that do cause many other problems, these activities are unlikely to be enduring. Safeguards therefore help to lower non-permanence risk. Another purpose of safeguards is to ensure that deforestation and degradation drivers are actually addressed, and this in turn takes pressure off the forest resource.
<i>How do you determine/measure the value of forest ecosystem services?</i>	For many years economists have wrestled with the issue of how to put an economic value on non-market goods and services. Non-market valuation is a big sub-discipline in economics. As such, there are many different ways to measure the value of forest ecosystem services.
	One way is to develop an understanding of the ecosystem services produced by forests, see how useful they are to society, and see what it would cost to get these same services if we had to buy them or engineer them.
	For example, unsustainable forest practices can make water catchments more susceptible to flood damage to downstream communities, and this flood damage comes at a real cost to society and the economy. By managing that catchment more sustainably (e.g. protecting and growing forests) we can lower the impact of flood events, and thereby lower the cost of flood events.
	When seen in this way we can begin to view forests as ecological infrastructures, and recognize that the sustainable management of forests comprises an ecological infrastructure investment.
	Like any infrastructure investment, we weigh up costs and benefits associated with construction and maintenance. The difference between ecological and engineered infrastructures though, is that nature a) built the infrastructure, and b) did this for free. So with many ecological infrastructures we do not need to supply the initial capital cost of construction. We only need to pay for the maintenance of this infrastructure.

Information, Training, Education

Information

Question	Responses
<i>Is there enough information available to do REDD+ activities?</i>	All REDD+ implementation activities will require the defining of a specific methodology and then populating that methodology with all the necessary data. In most cases some of the necessary data will be:
	 Already be available in the appropriate format Available but will need to be collated and formatted to suit the formatting requirements of the methodology Not available but requiring some minor resourcing to gather Not available and requiring outsourcing expertise to gather or produce Impossible to gain
	During the development of a concept note (e.g. Project Idea Note or PIN) and/or a project description documentation (PDD or equivalent) REDD+ implementation activities are well advised to use the selected methodology to generate a draft PIN or PDD (or equivalent) by undertaking a data assessment for each data component in the form of a gap analysis. This can enable the production of a First Draft PIN or PDD (or equivalent), which also serves as a

	data gap analysis. A data-harvesting plan can then be developed and resourced in order to prepare the second or final draft of the documentation.
Is there a database of existing information (national and regional) relevant to REDD+ in the Pacific Islands?	SPC/GIZ are already developing a Regional REDD+ Information Platform that can serve this purpose.
Are any academic institutions involved in REDD+?	USP is already involved in REDD+ data gathering with the Fiji REDD+ Programme and can also be involved in a regional information platform.

Education and Training

Question	Responses
Are current training programmes and existing syllabus applicable to REDD+?	Much of existing forestry training will be relevant to REDD+, but some modifications can bring such training up to speed.
<i>How can academic institutions get involved in REDD+?</i>	It would be useful to consider the development of modular training programmes to use for professional development and postgraduate degree programmes.
<i>How can REDD+ be made attractive to training institutions?</i>	Several options including showing such institutions the importance of forest carbon management and performance-based payments for ecosystem services.
<i>How do we identify and engage academic institutions in REDD+?</i>	This could be facilitated by the development of a REDD+ education strategy in such institutions (such as USP) that identifies relevant education institutions in the region, relevant skill-sets and disciplines for REDD+ education, and the relevant educational and training needs of REDD+ stakeholders.

International Engagement

Question	Responses
Who participates in international negotiations: Forestry or Environment?	The UNFCCC negotiations are hosted by either policy/finance working groups (e.g. the Ad Hoc Working Group (AHWG), and the Long Term Cooperative Action (LCA)
	Technical/scientific working groups (e.g. Subsidiary Bodies for Scientific and technological Advice – SBSTA)
	Country Parties send delegates selected by the country. These can include Forestry and/or Environment delegates. The UNFCCC fund 2 delegates per country. Any additional delegates need to be funded by other means. Each country can also have several policy or technical advisors at the negotiations. These advisors can be external experts who can assist and advise the negotiators and/or contribute to negotiations on behalf of country negotiators (e.g. commonly several issues are being negotiated at any one time and small delegations find it difficult to be in several different places at once. One way around this is to define a Regional REDD+/Forestry team that includes selected country representatives and external policy/technical advisors. This team could attend the international negotiations to represent the REDD+ interests of the region, mandated each year at the September Forestry Technical Meeting.

References

Boysen, T. 2011. Pacific Regional Framework on REDD+. Meeting Report. Pacific Regional Forestry Technical Meeting. Day 1, September 21st, 2011. SPC/GIZ Regional Project "Climate Protection through Forest Conservation in Pacific Island Countries", Suva.

Carbon Fix 2009. CarbonFix Standard Version 3.0.

CCBA. 2008. Climate, Community & Biodiversity Project Design Standards Second Edition. CCBA, Arlington, VA. December, 2008.

Commission of European Communities 2003. Communication from the Commission To The Council And The European Parliament Forest Law Enforcement, Governance And Trade (FLEGT). Proposal for an Eu Action Plan. Brussels, 21.5.2003 COM (2003) 251 final.

FLEGT Briefing Note No.3. What is Legal Timber?

Forest Carbon Partnership Facility (FCPF) 2011. Readiness Preparation Proposal (R-PP) Template. Version 6 Working Draft. November 23, 2011.

IPCC 2003. Good Practice Guidance For Land Use, Land Use Change And Forestry. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Published: IGES, Japan.

IPCC 2003. Good Practice Guidance on Land Use Land Use Change and Forestry. Edited by Jim Penman, Michael Gytarsky, Taka Hiraishi, Thelma Krug, Dina Kruger, Riitta Pipatti, Leandro Buendia, Kyoko Miwa, Todd Ngara, Kiyoto Tanabe and Fabian Wagner. Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme. Chapter 3 Forest Land.

IPCC 2006. 2006 IPCC Guidelines for National Greenhouse Gas Inventories, Prepared by the National Greenhouse Gas Inventories Programme, Eggleston H.S., Buendia L., Miwa K., Ngara T. and Tanabe K. (eds). Published: IGES, Japan.

ISO 14064-2:2006. Greenhouse Gases - Part 2: Specification with guidance at the project level for quantification, monitoring and reporting of greenhouse gas emission reductions or removal enhancements. First Edition 2006-03-01.

Millennium Ecosystem Assessment, 2005. Ecosystems and Human Well-being: Synthesis. Island Press, Washington, DC.

Nabuurs, G.J., O. Masera, K. Andrasko, P. Benitez-Ponce, R. Boer, M. Dutschke, E. Elsiddig, J. Ford-Robertson, P. Frumhoff, T. Karjalainen, O. Krankina, W.A. Kurz, M. Matsumoto, W. Oyhantcabal, N.H. Ravindranath, M.J. Sanz Sanchez, X. Zhang, 2007: Forestry. In Climate Change 2007: Mitigation. Contribution of Working Group III to the Fourth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [B. Metz, O.R. Davidson, P.R. Bosch, R. Dave, L.A. Meyer (eds)], Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, United Kingdom and New York, NY, USA.

Neeff, T., and Henders, S. 2007. Guidebook to markets and commercialization of forestry CDM projects. Centro Agronómico Tropical de Investigación y Enseñanza, CATIE, 2007.

Plan Vivo 2008. The Plan Vivo Standards. Plan Vivo, Carbon management and rural livelihoods. Plan Vivo Foundation, Edinburgh.

Social Carbon 2011. Social Carbon Standard V4.2 June 2011.

UN-REDD Programme 2008. UN Collaborative Programme on Reducing Emissions from Deforestation and Forest Degradation in Developing Countries (UN-REDD). FAO, UNDP, UNEP Framework Document 20 June 2008

UNESCO. 2003. Convention on the Safeguarding of Intangible Cultural Heritage (UNCSICH), Paris, October 2003.

UNFCCC 2010. Report of the Conference of the Parties on its fifteenth session, held in Copenhagen from 7 to 19 December 2009. Decision 4/CP.15. Methodological guidance for activities relating to reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries. P11.

UNFCCC 2011. 1/CP.16. The Cancun Agreements: Outcome of the work of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-term Cooperative Action under the Convention. C. Policy approaches and positive incentives on issues relating to reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation in developing countries; and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries.

UNFCCC 2011. 1/CP.16. The Cancun Agreements: Outcome of the work of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-term Cooperative Action under the Convention. Appendix I. Guidance and safeguards for policy approaches and positive incentives on issues relating to reducing emissions from deforestation and forest degradation in developing countries; and the role of conservation, sustainable management of forests and enhancement of forest carbon stocks in developing countries.

United Nations 2007. United Nations Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples. Adopted by General Assembly Resolution 61/295 on 13 September 2007.

Verified Carbon Standard 2011. VCS Standard. VCS Version 3 Requirements Document 8 March 2011, v3.0.

Verified Carbon Standard 2012. Jurisdictional and nested REDD+ (JNR) Requirements. Proposal for inclusion of jurisdictional and nested REDD+. Public consultation document, 3 May 2012.

Weaver, S.A. 2011. Pacific Regional REDD+ Policy Framework Roadmap: Approaches, Issues, and Options. SPC/GIZ Regional Project "Climate Protection through Forest Conservation in Pacific Island Countries", Suva, September 2011

Weaver, S.A. Payton, I., and Herold, M. 2011. Inception Workshop and Regional REDD+ Strategy Framework Development Report. SPC/GIZ Regional Project Climate Protection through Forest Conservation in Pacific Island Countries", Suva, February 2011.

Glossary

Afforestation	The direct human-induced conversion of land that has not been forested for a period of at least 50 years to forested land through planting, seeding and/or the human-induced promotion of natural seed sources. (UNFCCC)
Agroforestry	A collective name for land use systems and practices in which woody perennials are deliberately integrated with crops and/or animals on the same land management unit. The integration can be either in a spatial mixture or in a temporal sequence. There are normally both ecological and economic interactions between woody and non-woody components in agroforestry"
Baseline	A scenario (or forecast) that represents the emission of human-caused GHG that would occur in the absence of the proposed project activity or contemplated policy intervention. In REDD projects the baseline is a key component because emissions reductions credits are generated based on performance against the baseline.
Carbon	Substance composed of carbon atoms. Not to be confused with carbon dioxide (see 'carbon dioxide').
Carbon Assets	The potential of greenhouse gas emission reductions that a project is able to generate and sell. (World Bank)
Carbon Balance	The annual sum total of carbon emissions and sequestration within a given area (e.g. a project, sector, country, region, or globally)
Carbon Budget	The balance of the exchanges of carbon between carbon pools or between one specific loops (e.g. atmosphere-biosphere) of the carbon cycle. The examination of the budget of a pool or reservoir will provide information whether it is acting as a source or a sink (IPCC, 2003)
Carbon Dioxide	A naturally occurring gas, and also a by-product of burning fossil fuels and biomass, as well as land-use changes and other industrial processes. It is the principal anthropogenic greenhouse gas that affects the Earth's radiative balance. It is the reference gas against which other greenhouse gases are measured and therefore has a Global warming Potential of 1. (3 rd Assessment Report (TAR), IPCC, 2001).
Carbon Market	A market instrument used in the context of emissions trading whereby carbon units are traded.
Carbon Pool	A reservoir of carbon. A system that has the capacity to accumulate or release carbon. Carbon pools are measured in terms of mass (e.g., metric tonnes of carbon). The major carbon pools associated with forestry projects include live biomass (including above and below ground components such as roots), dead biomass, soil and wood products.
Carbon Sink	Natural features that absorb or sequester greenhouse gases from the atmosphere. Forests are the most common form of sink, though soils, peat, permafrost, sediments, freshwater, ocean water and carbonate deposits in the deep ocean also absorb carbon. Carbon sinks absorb many of the naturally occurring greenhouse gases; however, the vastly increased rate of emissions resulting from human activities outpaces the natural capacity to remove carbon

	from the atmosphere. LULUCF activities such as land management and forestry that utilize sinks to remove GHGs may be commodified. (carbon glossary)
Carbon Source	Any process or activity which releases carbon dioxide into the atmosphere (adopted from <i>source</i> , IPCC, 2006)
Carbon Stock	The volume of carbon contained in a carbon reservoir or pool (e.g. in a forest or soil).
Climate Change Adaptation	Initiatives and measures to reduce the vulnerability of natural and human systems against actual or expected climate change effects. Various types of adaptation exist, e.g. anticipatory and reactive, private and public, autonomous and planned. Examples are raising river or coastal dykes, the substitution of more temperature-shock resistant plants for sensitive ones, etc. (4 AR, IPCC, 2007).
Climate Change Mitigation	A human intervention to reduce the sources or enhance the sinks of greenhouse gases. Although several social, economic and technological policies would produce an emission reduction, with respect to climate change, mitigation means implementing policies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions and enhance sinks (4 AR, IPCC, 2007).
Co-benefits (in REDD+)	Are additional benefits that can accrue beyond the status quo when undertaking REDD+ activities (while safeguards can be viewed as the "do no harm" principle) (IISD)
Deforestation	The direct human-induced conversion of forested land to non-forested land. (UNFCCC, 2001) The conversion of forest to another land use or the long-term reduction of the tree canopy cover below the minimum 10 percent threshold. (FAO 2001)
Drivers	Drivers refer to processes that cause something to occur. A driver of deforestation may be demand for agricultural land. A driver of reforestation might be demand for plantation timber.
Emissions	Greenhouse gas emissions. The principle greenhouse gas in the forest sector is carbon dioxide. Carbon dioxide emissions arise from the burning and decomposition of wood and vegetation.
Enhancing Removals by Sinks	Carbon sinks sequester carbon dioxide from the atmosphere. Incentive payments from carbon markets or carbon financing are commonly only eligible for undertaking a management intervention that enhances the removal of atmospheric carbon dioxide by sinks. This is because incentive payments are not required for what nature would do anyway. Accordingly, management interventions seeking incentive payments need to demonstrate that the intervention enhances the rate of carbon sequestration by sinks. Examples of such interventions include a change in land use or a change in management practices.
Ex ante payments	Payments are provided before the carbon benefit has been delivered. Buyers pay for emissions reduction credits before the reductions have occurred in expectation of future emission reductions.

Ex post payments	Payments are delivered after the carbon emission reductions have been generated. Carbon offsets are issued after independent verification of emission reductions. Ex-post offsets are based on the measurement of emission reductions which have already occurred on site as a result of the project activities.
Forest	Land spanning more than 0.5 hectares with trees higher than 5 meters and a canopy cover of more than 10 percent, or trees able to reach these thresholds in situ.
	It does not include land that is predominantly under agriculture or urban use. Forest is determined both by the presence of trees and the absence of other predominant land uses. Areas under reforestation that have not yet reached but are expected to reach a canopy cover of 10 percent and a tree height of 5 meter are included, as are temporarily unstocked areas, resulting from human intervention or natural causes, which are expected to regenerate.
	Includes: Areas with bamboo and palms provided that height and canopy cover criteria are met; forest roads, fire breaks and other small open areas; forest in national parks, nature reserves and other protected areas such as those of scientific, historical, cultural or spiritual interest; windbreaks, shelterbelts and corridors of trees with an area of more than 0.5 hectares and width of more than 20 meters;[]
	Excludes; tree stands in agricultural production systems, for example in fruit plantations and agroforestry systems. The term also excludes trees in urban parks and gardens (FAO, 2006: 171)
Greenhouse gas	Trace gas capable of re-emitting infra red solar radiation, and has the effect of insulating the atmosphere (greenhouse effect). Greenhouse gases are a natural component of the Earth's atmosphere, without which the Earth would not be suitable for life. The addition of greenhouse gases to the atmosphere can amplify the greenhouse effect and contribute to global warming.
Improved Forest Management	Activities related to improved forest management are those implemented on forest lands managed for wood products such as sawtimber, pulpwood, and fuelwood and are included in the IPCC category "forests remaining as forests". Improved forest management includes conversion from conventional logging to reduced impact logging (e.g. sustainable forest management), and conversion of logged forests to protected forests.
Leakage	Direct emissions elsewhere caused by the emission reduction in the project/program. The efforts for reducing emissions in one place shift them to another location or sector where they are uncounted and perhaps uncontrolled.
Measurement Reporting and Verification (MRV)	A greenhouse gas inventory at a national or sub national/project scale that enables an accurate measurement and monitoring of greenhouse gas emissions or carbon stocks and rates of change of these emissions or carbon stocks.
NAMAs	Nationally Appropriate Mitigation Actions: voluntary or mandatory action by a developing country to reduce its carbon emissions in line with its economic, environmental, social and political context (CIFOR)
New Permanent Forest	Forests established on non-forested lands and maintained as permanent forest into the future. New permanent forest can include plantation forest that is intended for clear felling, provided the forest is replanted after felling and the

	land is maintained as forest land in perpetuity. Carbon stocks will rise and fall with the growing and harvest cycle and will remain higher (on average) than non-forest land that preceded it. Other forms of establishing new permanent forest include the re-establishment of natural forests through rehabilitation, where there is no intention to remove the forest in the future.
Non-forest	Areas which are outside "forests" but excluding wetlands, peatlands, and indigenous palm stands
"No regrets" approach	Refers to seeking social/economic/environmental policies and investments that promote growth and broad-based poverty-reducing sustainable development whether or not climate change is manifested.
Permanence	The longevity of a carbon pool and the stability of its stocks (UNFCCC)
Reforestation	The direct human-induced conversion of non-forested land to forested land through planting, seeding and/or the human-induced promotion of natural seed sources, on land that was forested but that has been converted to non-forested land. For the first commitment period, reforestation activities will be limited to reforestation occurring on those lands that did not contain forest on 31 December 1989 ((UNFCCC Definition))
Reference levels / reference emission levels	A benchmark or baseline against which the world, a country, or a region can measure its future progress (or lack thereof) in reducing emissions and sequestering carbon.
	RLs and RELs are two related terms but there is still no clear definition for either one or an explanation of how they differ. To avoid the RL vs. REL debate, the two terms are currently used synonymously.
Safeguards	Safeguards for REDD+ are included in the Cancun Agreements to ensure that REDD+ actions do not cause negative social or environmental impacts. Safeguards can be broadly understood as policies and measures that aim to address both direct and indirect impacts to communities and ecosystems, by identifying, analyzing, and ultimately working to manage risks and opportunities. If designed and implemented appropriately, safeguards can help REDD+ provide a suite of co-benefits. (IISD, 2011).
Sustainable Forest Management	The stewardship and use of forests and forest lands in a way, and at a rate, that maintains their biodiversity, productivity, regeneration capacity, vitality and their potential to fulfil, now and in the future, relevant ecological, economic and social functions, at local, national, and global levels, and that does not cause damage to other ecosystems. (FAO)
UNCSICH	The UN "Convention for the Safeguarding of the Intangible Cultural Heritage" – adopted by the General Conference of the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) meeting in Paris on 17 October 2003.
UNDRIP	The UN "Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples" – adopted by the General Assembly on Thursday September 13 2007. In April 2009, 182 States from all regions of the world reached consensus on an outcome document.